

APPLYING BEHAVIORAL INSIGHTS SIMPLE WAYS TO IMPROVE HEALTH OUTCOMES

Report of the WISH Behavioral Insights Forum 2016

Michael Hallsworth Veerle Snijders Hannah Burd Jessica Prestt Gaby Judah Sarah Huf David Halpern



Suggested reference for this report: Hallsworth M, Snijders V, Burd H, Prestt J, Judah G, Huf S, Halpern D. Applying Behavioral Insights: Simple Ways to Improve Health Outcomes. Doha, Qatar: World Innovation Summit for Health, 2016

APPLYING BEHAVIORAL INSIGHTS SIMPLE WAYS TO IMPROVE HEALTH OUTCOMES

Report of the WISH Behavioral Insights Forum 2016

CONTENTS

- 03 Foreword
- 04 Executive summary
- 07 Section 1: Understanding behavior to improve health outcomes
- 10 Section 2: Behavioral insights offer new solutions to policy problems
- 13 Section 3: Behavioral insights can improve health and healthcare
- 26 Section 4: Trialing interventions brings important advantages
- 29 Conclusion: Embedding behavioral insights into health policymaking
- 31 Appendix: Case studies
- **33** Acknowledgments
- 34 References

FOREWORD

Health professionals, policymakers and patients are well aware that a swath of today's health issues have behavioral roots. Smokers know that their habit is dangerous, yet struggle to quit. Healthcare systems spend billions on the treatment of diabetes, yet little on addressing the consumption that drives it. Emergency departments (EDs) treat a catalog of 'accidents' every day, but do little or nothing to prevent those accidents happening in the first place.

Gone are the days when the 'diseases of affluence' were limited to the industrialized West. For every 10 percent of gross domestic product (GDP) growth in developing nations, childhood stunting falls by 6 percent, but obesity rises by 7 percent.¹ The massive costs that are associated with such lifestyle shifts are a heavy enough burden for wealthy nations, but for poorer nations they will be crippling.

The real challenge is to move from a general awareness that behavior is pivotal to health, to a working knowledge of what to do about it. That is what this report is about. It seeks to arm the professional or policymaker with a simple set of tools that can be used to help shape patient or population health behavior for the better.

The application of behavioral science is already saving lives: patient charts can be formatted to reduce errors and pick up risks earlier; missed appointments can be reduced; treatment compliance improved; and healthcare systems refashioned to help patients make lifestyle changes that will keep them living longer and better.

Alongside this growing understanding, we need to apply the same rigorous experimental methods to behavioral and service design that have characterized drug-based clinical treatments. What is the best way to help someone quit smoking? What is the best wording a clinician can use to encourage their pre-diabetic patient to lose a little weight and exercise more? And more fundamentally, how can we use the insights from behavioral science to shape a society and economy in which living healthily is easy and pleasant?

If behavioral and lifestyle factors increasingly drive the majority of years of healthy life lost, then isn't it time we attack these issues at their causal roots, not just the symptoms?





Professor the Lord Darzi of Denham, OM, KBE, PC, FRS

Executive Chair, WISH, Qatar Foundation Director, Institute of Global Health Innovation, Imperial College London



Dr David Halpern Chief Executive, The Behavioural Insights Team

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Applying new insights about behavior can lead to better health outcomes at a lower cost. This report gives an overview of these insights and shows how they can be applied in practice. It has four key messages:

1. In order to improve health outcomes, we need a better understanding of behavior

There are three main areas where a lack of understanding or attention to human behavior causes problems in the health sector:

- Public health. Much of the global burden of disease arises from unhealthy behaviors, but people still struggle to change these behaviors even if they have the awareness, intention and ability to do so.
- Healthcare provision. Healthcare systems are often designed in ways that facilitate errors and poor decision-making by health practitioners.
- Policy decisions. Policy processes may lead policymakers to make suboptimal decisions for example, by treating evidence in a biased or inconsistent way.

2. Behavioral insights offer new solutions to policy problems

Research from the last 40 years shows that our decisions are often not deliberate and considered, but habitual, automatic and heavily influenced by the environment in which they are made. These factors are often neglected in traditional policy analysis. Applying these behavioral insights can unveil new and better ways of achieving policy goals, as well as enhancing existing policy tools (like making laws or providing incentives). Governments around the world are increasingly doing this, but there is the potential to go much further.

3. Behavioral insights can improve health and healthcare

The Easy, Attractive, Social and Timely (EAST) framework is a simple way of applying behavioral insights to policy and making behavior change more likely:

Easy. We want to avoid expending effort wherever possible. For example, because we often avoid making an active choice, we often end up with the 'default' option. Therefore, making the default option the healthy one is likely to be effective: if the default option is to receive an HIV test, then testing will be much more frequent than if the default is to not receive one. Requiring even small amounts of effort ('friction costs') can make it much less likely that a behavior will happen. For example, making it just slightly more difficult to obtain large amounts of over-the-counter drugs has been shown to greatly reduce overdoses.

Reduce even very small barriers to make a healthy behavior more likely.

- Attractive. Our attention is limited and so we need new ways of attracting it. One way of doing this is to identify the messages that work best. For example, a study in the United Kingdom (UK) found that missed hospital appointments could be cut by a quarter if a reminder stated the specific cost of a missed appointment to the health system. Another way is to attract attention through visual or spatial design: accidental deaths on railways in India were cut by painting reference lines on railway tracks to make it easier for people to judge the speed of trains.

Create simple and clear messages, or new design features, to attract our limited attention.

Social. Humans are social beings who are strongly influenced by what others do – 'social norms'. Making healthy behaviors more visible can make them seem more prevalent and easier to copy. For example, the 'Ebola handshake' that was introduced in Nigeria to reduce physical contact (and thus the spread of disease) acted as a highly visible replacement greeting. Even simply telling people what others do in the same situation is effective – doctors prescribed antibiotics at a lower rate when told that most of their peers were doing this.

Show or tell people that others are performing a healthy behavior.

 Timely. People are more receptive to changes at some times than others. Therefore, some moments will be more effective times for intervention, such as religious or cultural holidays, the start of the year or significant life events. For example, a successful diabetes screening program in Qatar timed the intervention (which required fasting) to coincide with Ramadan, when many people were fasting anyway.

Launch interventions at times when people are most receptive to change.

The EAST principles apply equally to policymakers themselves. Those who are making health policy should consider how their own actions may be affected by these factors, and how to apply them to ensure policy is made in the best way.

4. Trialing interventions brings important advantages

Since behavior is complex, context is powerful, and details matter, we cannot be sure of the exact best way to implement interventions. Therefore, it is important for policymakers to incorporate simple trials to evaluate the effect of behavioral interventions on healthcare services. These trials are often cheap and can deliver results quickly, particularly if routinely collected data is used. Trialing interventions like this has shown that behavioral insights can make a real difference to healthcare systems. Trialing also shows when, how and for whom interventions work best – since the size and duration of their impact can be affected by cultural differences and details of implementation.

The ideas and examples in this report can be used by anyone involved with healthcare or public health. However, we think that the report will be particularly valuable to policymakers who are responsible for designing and stewarding health systems.

There are many opportunities to improve health and healthcare worldwide by applying behavioral insights. Many of these opportunities can be realized by applying simple tools to make practical changes. We encourage policymakers to use these tools.

SECTION 1: UNDERSTANDING BEHAVIOR TO IMPROVE HEALTH OUTCOMES

A common goal of health policymakers is to reduce the number of disabilityadjusted life years lost due to ill-health as cost-effectively as possible. The question is: why do they need to understand human behavior better – and how best to influence it – to achieve these goals? We can find clear reasons in three important aspects of health systems: the ways that ill-health develops; the behaviors of healthcare practitioners providing treatment for this ill-health; and the way policymakers oversee health systems.

We need to better understand why unhealthy behaviors happen

Although the conditions in which people are born, live and work are very important for their health, around half of the global burden of disease arises from behavioral and lifestyle factors.^{2, 3} Unhealthy eating, smoking and alcohol consumption contribute to the development of long-term conditions such as diabetes; cardiovascular diseases; chronic respiratory diseases; and musculoskeletal disorders. These conditions account for the greatest disease burden in industrialized nations and increasingly worldwide (see Figure 1),⁴ and are estimated to cost \$30.4 trillion in lost output and treatment costs over the next 20 years.⁵

Leading causes of mortality in developing countries can also be greatly reduced through behaviors such as breastfeeding; using mosquito nets effectively; using oral rehydration therapy; and attending vaccination appointments.⁶ However, healthy behaviors may not occur even when awareness, intention and ability are present,⁷ resulting in ill-health for individuals, waste for health systems and lost productivity for economies. Therefore, to improve health outcomes, health systems need to apply the best evidence of how to influence the behavior of the populations they serve.

Figure 1: Global disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) attributed to risk factors in 2013



Source: Adapted from Forouzanfar et al. (2015)⁸

We need to better understand how health systems influence the behavior of health practitioners

Healthcare systems consist of many different relationships. As well as the direct patient-practitioner relationship, there are patient-family/community relationships, practitioner-practitioner relationships, provider-commissioner relationships, and so on. Understanding what drives and influences the way these people interact could result in better outcomes for less money.

Unfortunately, health systems are often not designed with this kind of understanding. For example, errors such as giving the wrong medication typically result from processes involving complex language or unclear presentation of choices. Despite knowing this, we are still creating and using processes that facilitate these errors.^{9, 10} We also now know more about why health professionals, policymakers and politicians find it difficult to focus on preventative care: we tend to focus on the immediate problem in front of us, rather than potential future problems that seem distant and abstract. Nevertheless, we continue to create incentive structures for professionals that emphasize treatment over prevention, which leads to greater expenditure and poorer health overall.¹¹

We need to better understand the behavior of those who oversee health systems

Finally, we can consider how behavioral insights can, and should, influence those who oversee health policies because their decisions are often influenced by factors that may not lead to the best outcomes. For example, a health minister may visit a hospital and notice a particular cancer treatment because it is novel and easy to understand – even if it is not the most effective option. As we show below, behavioral insights explain why our attention can be attracted like this, and suggest ways of drawing attention to the best options. What can also happen is that, once a minister or policymaker decides to prioritize a particular treatment, it can be very difficult to convince them otherwise – to the extent that they will not pay attention to evidence that other options are better. In the field of behavioral insights, this is known as 'confirmation bias'.¹² If we can recognize these issues and try to adapt policymak-ing to address them, we will have better health policies and, in turn, better health outcomes.

A better understanding of behavior can improve the use, delivery and management of healthcare. Research from the last 40 years from disciplines such as psychology, economics and anthropology, together with healthcare research, has generated knowledge to support this aim. Collectively, this knowledge is often referred to as 'behavioral insights', and some examples of how these are used in health are presented in the next section.

SECTION 2: BEHAVIORAL INSIGHTS OFFER NEW SOLUTIONS TO POLICY PROBLEMS

'Behavioral insights' is a term used to refer to the use of findings from behavioral science to understand how people behave in practice, and thereby design policy and public services better. This section explains behavioral insights in more detail and explains how they have been used recently.

Challenging existing ways of understanding behavior

Health policy – like other policy areas – considers how to achieve certain outcomes using restricted resources. In general terms, policy decisions are often informed by the discipline of economics.¹³ More specifically, they are often based on the assumption that people will process all the available information, carefully weigh up the costs and benefits of acting, and select the option that maximizes the benefits to themselves.¹⁴

Findings from the behavioral sciences have increasingly shown that this kind of decision-making happens less often than economic models assume. Instead of weighing up the costs and benefits carefully, behavioral science has produced much evidence that we often use mental shortcuts or 'rules of thumb' to select an option that is good enough, although perhaps not the best.¹⁵ Examples of these shortcuts might be 'choose what everyone else has chosen' or 'do the same thing I did last time'. If this evidence is ignored, the policy may not affect behavior the way it intended.¹⁶

While mental shortcuts often work well – doing what everyone else does is usually a good survival strategy – they can harm health if used in the wrong context. Moreover, behavioral science also shows that conscious thought has a minimal influence on much of our behavior. Instead, behavior is often guided by 'automatic' responses to our environment and the things we encounter.¹⁷ Changing apparently insignificant aspects of the context or the way a decision is presented may therefore lead to important changes in behavior. For example, a large body of evidence shows that most of our eating behavior is not conscious or deliberate. We are heavily influenced by cues in our 'eating environment', such as the size of the plate from which you eat food. The larger the plate, the more we eat without realizing.¹⁸ Therefore one way of making it easy to eat less is to change the default so that packages, serving items and tableware are smaller.

We can improve health outcomes if we recognize that our decisions are often not deliberate and considered, but habitual, automatic and heavily influenced by the environment in which they are made.

Applying behavioral insights in a policy context

The behavioral insights literature does not imply that existing ways of making policy are totally wrong: people do often act in line with costs and benefits. Nor does taking a behavioral insights approach mean that policymakers automatically have to dispense with more traditional 'hard' measures, such as legislation, in favor of simply reframing choices. This is a misunderstanding that often occurs if people focus purely on the idea of 'nudging', rather than looking more widely at the potential for applying behavioral science to policy.¹⁹ As Figure 2 shows, nudges are only one aspect of behavioral insights, and generally concern the way that choices are presented.



Figure 2: The relationship between policy tools, nudges and behavioral insights

Instead, behavioral insights should be seen as an approach to policymaking as a whole, as well as a specific set of tools in a toolkit. The dotted line in the diagram shows that behavioral insights can cover the whole range of government action. Applying behavioral insights is not necessarily an alternative to legislation – rather, it provides a set of findings and a way of thinking that can help ensure that legislation is in line with how people behave in reality. It is a lens through which all government and practitioner action needs to be seen. It is not an optional extra because most government policies are concerned with influencing behavior. Behavioral insights, therefore, will have something to say about most policies. Nor is the contribution of behavioral insights limited to small tweaks to existing arrangements. A behavioral insights approach can be used to reassess, rethink and redesign whole health systems.

Finally, policymakers need to use behavioral insights responsibly. If they are introducing an intervention that deliberately taps into habitual, automatic actions, then people may be less aware that they are being influenced. This is a complex debate that cannot be summarized in this report.^{20, 21, 22} Regardless, there is a strong case for policymakers to be:

- transparent as to the intent and actions of an intervention; and
- engaged in discussion with citizens, possibly through some kind of deliberative mechanism, about what kinds of action they find acceptable.

Recent developments

In recent years, governments around the world have begun to apply the findings from behavioral science in an explicit and sustained way. A 2014 report noted that "51 countries have central state-led policy initiatives that have been influenced by the new behavioral sciences."²³ In particular, various governments have created dedicated behavioral science teams, including in the UK, United States (US), Germany, Australia, Canada and the Netherlands. In addition, both the World Bank and the European Commission have launched major new initiatives to apply behavioral insights to policy.^{24, 25, 26} Many of the teams involved have also made an explicit commitment to evaluate their initiatives robustly, so it is possible to build an increasingly rich evidence base of how behavioral insights can bring the most benefit.

Despite these advances and the momentum they have created, it is clear that the full potential of a behavioral insights approach is yet to be realized – particularly in health. The goal is to integrate these insights into mainstream health policymaking and care provision. To help this, the next section outlines a simple set of principles, along with relevant examples, to translate behavioral insights into practice.

SECTION 3: BEHAVIORAL INSIGHTS CAN IMPROVE HEALTH AND HEALTHCARE

The UK's Behavioural Insights Team (BIT) was set up in 2010 as the world's first government institution dedicated to the application of behavioral sciences to mainstream policy. A core part of its work has been to explain behavioral science concepts to government officials. Through testing with policymakers around the world, the EAST framework, presented below, has emerged as a way of addressing this challenge.²⁷

The EAST framework claims that a behavior is more likely to occur if it is made Easy, Attractive, Social and Timely (EAST). Each of these categories is underpinned by a body of evidence from behavioral science, some of which we summarize below. We also illustrate each with examples from around the world where these ideas have been applied to improve health and healthcare (although we have not attempted to achieve comprehensive coverage of every health policy issue).

Readers who are interested in accessing a particular policy area can refer to the table in the Appendix.

Make it easy

The insight that we are less likely to do things that require more effort may seem unsurprising. However, behavioral science adds to our understanding of how we can make a healthy behavior easier by using defaults and reducing even small barriers to achieving it.

Make the default option a desired health behavior

Behavioral science has shown that people have a strong tendency to avoid making an active decision wherever possible.²⁸ This tendency means that people often end up with the default option – in other words, the option provided if an individual does not actively choose otherwise. The most powerful way of making something easy is to ensure that a person does not have to do anything for it to be achieved. For example, if the default option is to receive a flu vaccination, then vaccination rates will be higher than if the default is to not receive one.²⁹

Default settings also exert a powerful influence on healthcare providers. For example, clinicians must decide how much air is blown into the lungs of patients on breathing support, and how often this happens. The lungs can be injured if too much air is delivered too often. A famous study showed that patients' mortality could be reduced by 25 percent if the default setting of the ventilator was changed to blow lower volumes of air into their lungs.^{30, 31} An even better option is to offer tailored defaults designed for particular situations or system users.

Reduce or eliminate even small barriers to the behavior

Behavioral science also demonstrates that even very small barriers can have a large impact on behavior. Apparently insignificant costs (of whatever kind) can affect whether or not a behavior occurs. One type of cost simply concerns the amount of effort required to perform the action. The following case study refers to how these costs can affect even very important decisions, such as deterring suicide.

Introducing small barriers to deter suicides

Background

Paracetamol overdose is a common method of suicide and non-fatal self-harm worldwide.³² Suicidal behavior is often impulsive and people tend to use drugs already available in their homes. People are also more likely to consume more than 25 tablets, the amount associated with acute liver dysfunction, when they are in a loose pack instead of a blister pack.³³

The project

In 1998, the UK changed the laws on paracetamol packaging so that the drug could not be sold loose in large containers. The packs were restricted to blister packs with a maximum of 32 tablets in pharmacies and 16 tablets elsewhere. In addition, multiple packs could not be bought at the same shop. The change in legislation presented only a small barrier because people could still buy packs at multiple outlets if they wanted to.

Results

These small barriers ('friction costs') led to an estimated 43 percent reduction in suicides in the 11 years following the legislation – that's 765 fewer deaths; 990 including accidental poisonings (see Figure 3). There was also a 61 percent reduction in registrations for liver transplants caused by paracetamol poisoning.³⁴

Conclusion

Decreasing ease of access to large amounts of painkillers may be a successful way to decrease suicide rates.³⁵ Evidence suggests that people do not find another route for suicide when faced with these kind of costs, but rather discontinue the attempt altogether.³⁶

Figure 3: Reduction in UK deaths by overdose after change in law relating to paracetamol packaging



Adapted from Hawton et al. (2013)³⁷

By the same logic, reducing friction costs can make a desirable behavior, such as taking the right medicine at the right time, more likely. For example, BIT is currently working with the United Nations Development Program to address low adherence to tuberculosis treatment in Moldova.³⁸ Low drug adherence has contributed to Moldova being one of the 27 countries with the highest incidence of drug-resistant tuberculosis.³⁹ One of the main problems is that current treatment regimes require patients to take pills daily in the presence of a medical professional to ensure compliance, which is costly in terms of time and money for both the patient and the healthcare system. In order to reduce the friction costs of visiting a doctor's practice, the process will be changed so that compliance is verified over a Skype session – 36 percent of Moldovan tuberculosis patients had experience of using Skype.⁴⁰

Another way of reducing friction costs by changing defaults is to substitute a harmful behavior for one that is very similar, but which produces less harm, rather than asking people to give up the harmful behavior. This makes the healthier outcome easier by requiring little to no change. Perhaps the greatest potential for substitution may be in diet. For example, excessive salt consumption is a major cause of high blood pressure. An intervention in Peru aims to maintain behavioral patterns (adding salt to meals), but replaces the salt with a low sodium substitute. The substitute has been constructed so that people will not detect any changes in taste.⁴¹ Salt substitution has proved to be an effective and acceptable policy in other countries.⁴²

These lessons about friction costs also apply to professionals delivering services. The purpose of the Allillanchu project in South America is to make it easy and standard for primary care providers to assess the emotional wellbeing of any person who comes for treatment. The providers were given an electronic tablet to carry out a simple screening questionnaire and make a referral. People who were referred were then sent motivational text messages to remind them to seek mental healthcare. The system screened 733 people and helped to identify 165 people with mental ill-health. Of the people identified, 143 were enrolled in the study; 92 sought mental healthcare; and 73 accessed mental healthcare.⁴³

Make it attractive

The second principle is to attract attention to an idea or behavior, which is often difficult to do. $^{\rm 44}$

Why people may not notice health-related information

As the world becomes increasingly complex, we are exposed to more information. Twenty-five years ago, it was claimed that an edition of the *New York Times* contained more information than the average person in 17th century England would have been exposed to in their lifetime.⁴⁵ Behavioral science has shown that we have only a limited capacity for focusing on and processing information.⁴⁶ Therefore, we have developed strategies for separating important or relevant pieces of information from the rest. Some of these strategies can be very effective. One everyday example is the way we are able to notice our name being spoken, even if we are concentrating on something else and there is much background noise.⁴⁷

However, these strategies also mean that the way we notice and process information can harm our health. For instance, our attention may be drawn to unhealthy items without us realizing. It has been shown that overweight people unconsciously focus on words and images relating to food – and the same is true for those people who are dependent on alcohol and smoking.^{48,49,50} Alternatively, we may simply not notice things that benefit our health, or that of others. This is what psychologists call 'inattentional blindness'.⁵¹

These problems of attention are particularly bad when people have a heavy 'cognitive load' – in other words, they have a lot to think about. This is particularly relevant as one cause of cognitive load can be concerns about a medical condition.⁵² Another widespread cause of cognitive load is poverty. People who are poor find that the struggle to survive consumes their attention, often without them realizing, which can in turn lead to unhealthier behaviors.^{53, 54} Clinicians working in high-pressure environments also experience distractions and cognitive load, which increases the likelihood that they commit errors.⁵⁵

We suggest two main ways of addressing the challenge of attracting attention.

1. Find health-related messages that attract attention effectively

First, we can identify the message content that is most likely to attract attention. For example, a set of studies from the UK have shown how referring to healthcare costs can attract attention. A team of researchers sought to tackle the problem of missed hospital appointments, which constitute one-in-10 of all outpatient appointments in England. To do this, they tried to attract attention by introducing new message content to existing SMS appointment reminders. They found that the most effective message highlighted the exact cost to the health system of a missed appointment. This message reduced no-shows by 25 percent and, importantly, the trial also showed that it was the specific wording that attracted attention – the same cost message presented in general terms was less effective (see Figure 4).⁵⁶ The results have been replicated using a similar message in Australia. This kind of cost message can also attract the attention of healthcare practitioners. In another study where hospital clinicians were given the cost of a discretionary laboratory test, ordering levels were reduced by 32 percent.⁵⁷ Of course, other messages may also attract attention, and simple, cheap trials can show what content works best in a particular situation.



Figure 4: Reduction in missed appointments from changing message content in appointment reminder

Source: Adapted from Hallsworth et al. (2015)⁵⁸

2. Attract attention through visual or spatial design

Second, we can attract attention through visual or spatial design, as highlighted in the following case study looking at reducing the number of rail incidents in Mumbai.

Decreasing rail incidents in Mumbai using visual cues

Background

Between 2002 and 2012, 36,152 people died or were injured on the tracks of Mumbai's Suburban Railway – nearly 10 a day.⁵⁹ Huge investments in increasing awareness of the dangers posed by the tracks did not improve these statistics.⁶⁰

The project

One possible explanation for the incidents is that people find it difficult to judge the speed of an approaching train. Therefore, the team tried an alternative approach: they painted reference lines on the track to improve pedestrians' judgment of speed. This is a method that has previously been used to reduce road traffic incidents. Stripes on the road that get closer together give drivers the impression that their speed is increasing and leads them to slow down.⁶¹

Results

The reference lines meant that people's attention was attracted to fast-moving trains more quickly, which led to a 75 percent decline in trespassing deaths at the test location. Follow-up tests showed a 30–70 percent reduction in trespassing deaths.⁶²

Conclusion

Behavioral spatial design can provide people with important visual cues that can prevent rail incidents.

Clear visual representations can also attract attention to the way diseases are transmitted. For example, one Ebola prevention technique showed a man with clean hands shaking hands with another man who had blue powder on his hands representing the Ebola virus. After the handshaking, the color blue appeared in the palm of the first man, implying he had come into contact with the virus. Without washing his hands, the man picked up a loaf of bread and immediately the color appeared on the bread. This demonstration significantly increased knowledge and improved hygiene techniques to prevent Ebola transmission, compared with traditional teaching.⁶³

There are opportunities to reduce non-communicable diseases as well. For example, in 2014 Singapore's Health Promotion Board launched the Healthier Choice Symbol (HCS), which is a visual identifier that clearly highlights healthier produce in supermarkets. The HCS was designed to reduce the cognitive load required to read food labels. As a result, more consumers are choosing HCS products; there has been an 8–11 percent annual growth in key categories such as oil and wholegrain bread and rice. Also, more manufacturers are making their products healthier; there has been a 9 percent annual growth in HCS products.⁶⁴ Healthcare providers can also benefit from effective ways of attracting their attention towards important information. For example, it can be difficult to notice and treat a change in a patient's condition if it happens gradually. Australia's Between the Flags initiative addresses this problem by including colored bands in observation charts where a patient's vital signs are recorded (see Figure 5). These colors help health-care practitioners easily see when patients are deteriorating. Observations that are recorded in the yellow zone trigger a clinical review of the patient. Observations in the red zone trigger a rapid response.⁶⁵ The program as a whole is associated with a 25 percent reduction in unexpected cardiac arrests and is popular among staff.⁶⁶

Tracking of observation Date Date Time Time **JIRWAY/BREATHING** - 35 35 Respiratory rate - 30 30 - 25 25 - 20 - 15 20 15 10 10 5 5 Trigger of threshold

Figure 5: Between the Flags observation chart

Source: Clinical Excellence Commission (2016) 67

Of course, visual and spatial design of our everyday environment is often used by private companies and others in ways that may harm health. One example is the way that unhealthy foods may be sold, such as at the end of aisles in shops. A recent study showed that putting drinks on end-of-aisle displays increased sales of both alcoholic and non-alcoholic drinks. For alcohol, the increase in the volume of sales was similar to what you would see if there had been a 4–9 percent decrease in price.⁶⁸ Clearly, there are many ways to address this situation, from regulating the private sector to working with them to redirect our attention towards healthier options. But, these options will only be explored if policymakers understand how our attention is captured.

Make it social

The third principle concerns tapping into the social dimension of behavior. Humans are a social species and we are strongly influenced by what we observe – or infer from – others doing in the same situation.⁶⁹ These social norms are often considerably more powerful than messages about health risks or benefits, which have been the traditional focus of health improvement efforts.⁷⁰ In addition, behaviors that become social norms can spread quickly and unpredictably through social networks. Below are three ways that our social nature can be leveraged to influence our health behaviors.

Make the behavior visible

Perhaps the most basic way that social norms can be used is through enabling people to see that others are performing a behavior, thereby making healthy behaviors more visible and seemingly more prevalent and easier to copy. For example, an intervention in Kenya that installed simple automated chlorine dispensers at a spring increased water chlorination by 30 percent. Importantly, the intervention allowed people to see their peers using chlorine when they collected water. The chlorine was also easy to use and timely because it was available at the point of need.⁷¹

Similarly, during the Ebola outbreak, the Nigerian government and others officially discouraged handshaking in order to reduce the spread of the disease.⁷² But an edict of this kind is unlikely to be successful without the introduction of a substitute behavior as well. Therefore, the 'Ebola handshake' was introduced, where each person offers a clenched fist and a bent elbow, without touching or touching only with the elbow.⁷³ The handshake recognizes the need to create a new social norm, and introduces a highly visible behavior to fulfil that purpose.

Report that others are doing the behavior

Another effective way of using social norms is to simply tell people what others do in the same situation. People may overestimate the extent to which their peers are engaging in unhealthy behaviors, or vice versa.⁷⁴ Simply pointing out that a beneficial behavior is more prevalent than expected can increase levels of that behavior. Equally, informing someone that few other people perform the same behavior can lead them to stop doing it. This can work for both general and clinical populations. The following case study demonstrates how the technique is effective at reducing the prescription of antibiotics by doctors if they are compared to their peers.

Reducing antibiotic prescribing by doctors through peer comparisons⁷⁵

Background

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) occurs when bacteria become resistant to antibiotics. The result is that common operations or minor incidents may become fatal. As the World Health Organization (WHO) puts it: "The achievements of modern medicine are put at risk by antimicrobial resistance."⁷⁶ A recent review estimated that AMR will result in 10 million deaths and \$100 trillion in unachieved GDP a year by 2050.⁷⁷ The effects will fall disproportionately on developing countries: 25 percent of deaths in Nigeria could be caused by AMR if trends are not altered.⁷⁸ (A more extensive overview and potential actions can be found in the **WISH 2013** *Antimicrobial Resistance: In Search of a Collaborative Solution* report.⁷⁹)

See WISH 2013 Antimicrobial Resistance report

20

(Continued)

The project

One cause of AMR is the overuse of antibiotics in medicine. UK data shows that some doctors are prescribing antibiotics much more often than others.⁸⁰ BIT worked with England's Chief Medical Officer to send a letter to the highest antibiotic prescribers, which informed them that they were prescribing at a higher rate than 80 percent of their peers.

Results

Over six months, the doctors who received the letter reduced their antibiotic prescribing by 3.3 percent compared to those who were not sent the letter (see Figure 6). This reduction amounted to 75,000 fewer doses across 800 practices.

The intervention cost only £4,000, but achieved a similar effect to that aimed for by an incentive scheme costing £23 million.

Conclusion

Giving social norm feedback can reduce antibiotic prescribing. This approach could be applied to other areas where there are undesirable variations in clinical practice or outcomes.

Figure 6: Reduction in antibiotic prescribing rates after social norm feedback to doctors



Source: Adapted from Hallsworth et al. (2016)⁸¹

Use social networks to spread behaviors

Social connections can influence health. There is much evidence that behaviors spread through social networks in rapid and potentially unexpected ways. A US study that analyzed decades of health behaviors across social networks found that when a person's spouse quits smoking, their chances of smoking in turn decrease by 67 percent. Friends quitting decreases the likelihood that another member of a friendship group will smoke by 36 percent, co-workers by 34 percent and siblings by 25 percent.⁸² Obesity seems to be similarly linked to social networks.⁸³

Networks therefore enable the spread of new practices.⁸⁴ A famous study showed that uptake of a new drug prescription occurred quickest among doctors most integrated into a medical social network.⁸⁵ Another showed that the rate of adoption of family planning methods in Korean villages was determined by the strength of their connections to other people knowledgeable in family planning, abortion and other health matters.⁸⁶

One obvious question for anyone who wants to encourage the spread of behaviors in a social network is who to target. Some studies have suggested that interventions should target individuals who have many social connections, but the evidence for this idea is contested.⁸⁷ A recent study in Honduras looked at how social connections could be used to increase adoption of water chlorination and multivitamin usage. Villages were randomly assigned to one of three different approaches: either the intervention was introduced first to villagers with the most social ties; to randomly selected villagers; or to the friends that randomly selected villagers nominated. This last approach was inspired by the 'friendship paradox', which the researchers explain as: "On average, the friends of randomly selected individuals are more central in the [social] network than the individuals who named them; colloquially, 'your friends have more friends than you do'."⁸⁸

The study found that the third approach, which targeted nominated friends of randomly selected villagers, led to the highest overall uptake of the multivitamin intervention. In contrast, targeting highly connected villagers was not more effective than the approach where villagers were randomly selected. There is a real practical value to adopting the 'friends of randomly selected people' approach because it is cheap and can be changed in size and scale (it is not necessary to map entire social networks, for example).

Network studies show that there is a great deal of peer-to-peer influence that is independent of authorities. Tapping into informal peer-to-peer networks and allowing the people themselves to spread changes can therefore be the most effective strategy. The general lesson for leaders of health systems is to try to understand how such networks function and then experiment with different ways of introducing new behaviors into social networks.

Make it timely

While there are a range of interventions and policies that can help people adopt healthier choices, it is also important to consider *when* interventions are introduced, since people are more receptive to changes at certain points in their life.⁸⁹

Prompt changes when people are most receptive

People are more receptive to changes at moments that seem significant to them. These moments can be prompted by external events that disrupt existing patterns of behavior, or by a person's internal reflection on their current situation.^{90, 91} There are many other moments that may offer effective points of intervention, such as religious or cultural holidays, the start of the year, month or week, and positive or negative life events (for example, becoming a parent, losing a close relative or moving house).⁹² The case study below highlights an example of how religious holidays are used to increase diabetes screening in Qatar. Similarly, Ramadan was found to be a particular timely moment to ask Muslims to join a smoking cessation program in Singapore: over 18 times as many Malay Muslims joined the program during Ramadan alone (3,342) compared to all other months (2,010).⁹³

Increasing pre-diabetes screening in Qatar⁹⁴

Background

Qatar has an estimated prevalence of type 2 diabetes in 13 percent of its adult population (17 percent in the Qatari population). Around one-third of the people with diabetes have not been diagnosed and are unaware of their disease. For all those who have developed type 2 diabetes, at least the same number again have pre-diabetes and, without lifestyle changes, are likely to go on to develop the disease.

There are two main ways of diagnosing diabetes or pre-diabetes. Point-of-care capillary blood glucose (CBG) testing is cheaper and more effective at identifying early or pre-diabetes than the alternative hemoglobin A1c. However, CBG requires participants to fast for some time to give accurate results, and this is difficult to arrange in a whole community.

The project

A team from Hamad Medical Corporation (the main hospital provider in Qatar), and the NGO Action on Diabetes identified a timely moment to use CBG. During Ramadan 2014, the team set up 20 screening stations at the State Grand Mosque of Qatar, each staffed by two nurses. Adult Muslims fast during the hours of sunlight and daily prayers during Ramadan. Worshippers at Juma'a prayer, who had been fasting since sunrise (more than nine hours), were invited to CBG testing. Imams, as the leaders of the religious community, were involved in encouraging worshippers to take the opportunity for testing.

(Continued)

Results

During the Ramadan pilot 2,177 people were screened. Of those screened, 11.7 percent already knew that they had diabetes from a previous diagnosis. However, 5.3 percent were found to have undiagnosed diabetes, and 26.6 percent were identified as being pre-diabetic. Therefore, almost one-third of those screened were unaware that they had diabetes or were likely to develop the disease. These people were referred to dietary and lifestyle education programs to prevent or reverse the progression of the disease. The success of the screening program meant it was repeated in 2015 with similar results.

Conclusion

The particular behavioral patterns of fasting and prayer during the holy month of Ramadan provide a timely moment in Islamic communities to screen for diabetes or pre-diabetes. This approach is reinforced when championed by religious leaders, who are important messengers in the community.

Health-related events can also act as moments for change. A large study from the US suggests that having major surgery doubles the likelihood of quitting smoking. This is particularly true for surgery related to smoking such as treatment of cancer and heart disease.⁹⁵ Even minor operations increased stop smoking rates by 28 percent and, due to their high occurrence, they have a major impact on population-level quitting rates.⁹⁶ Timing an intervention around the surgery can increase this effect. People given a brief preoperative consultation by a nurse (involving smoking cessation brochures, referral to a quit helpline and access to six weeks of nicotine replacement), were 2.7 times more likely to achieve long-term cessation than people who received treatment as usual.⁹⁷

Timing is also crucial when considering the behavior of healthcare professionals. Professionals' hand hygiene compliance deteriorates over the course of a shift, with small peaks in compliance directly after breaks (see Figure 7).⁹⁸ This highlights that self-control may be a limited resource, and that interventions need to be timed to counter the 'decision fatigue' that can develop over a demanding shift. Indeed, there are several behaviorally informed handwashing interventions that could be used to do this. For example, many use messages to prompt handwashing, but some others are more creative and use ideas such as creating 'clean' smells as triggers.^{99, 100, 101}

We need to understand what times to select for maximum impact because it is often not possible or effective to run a campaign or deliver a message continually.



Figure 7: Compliance with handwashing rules over the course of a shift

Source: Adapted from Dai et al. (2015)¹⁰²

SECTION 4: TRIALING INTERVENTIONS BRINGS IMPORTANT ADVANTAGES

The previous sections explored potential ways of improving health and healthcare. However, to apply these insights in practice it is necessary to consider: the importance of testing; the extent to which study findings can be applied across different groups; and the sustainability of improvements.

The importance of trialing interventions

Since behavior is complex, context is powerful, and details matter, we cannot be sure of the exact best way to implement interventions. While we have general principles to guide us (such as the EAST framework), we cannot be sure how these principles will work in practice. Therefore, it is important for policymakers to incorporate simple trials to evaluate the effect of behavioral interventions on healthcare services and outcomes. Trials are often cheap and can deliver results quickly, especially if routinely collected data is used.¹⁰³ For example, where appointment reminders are sent and a record is made of which patients attend, reminder messages can be varied to determine which are most effective.

The first step in conducting a trial like this is to establish a clear outcome measure, such as the proportion of healthcare appointments that are missed. However, there are various ways of understanding how an intervention affects the outcome measure. An obvious approach is to measure the outcome before and after, but this can be unreliable because other things may have occurred that affect the outcome. For example, the season may have changed to winter between the start and the end of the intervention making the journey to medical centers more difficult.

Another way might be to compare a group of patients who received one message with a group that received a different one. This can give reliable results if the groups have been selected carefully. However, the two groups may differ in unknown ways that affect the success of the intervention. For example, perhaps one of the group of patients is sicker than the other one.

In general, the most reliable way of determining the effect of an intervention is to allocate the people or groups to take part in the initiative randomly. Choosing at random means that on average, the two groups are the same as each other – that is, the people have the same characteristics: height, weight, wealth, and so on. Ensuring the groups are the same on average is important because it means that any change in the outcome measure must be due to the intervention, not other factors.

'Randomized controlled trials' have a reputation for being the gold standard for evidence, but also for being expensive, slow and complex. They do not need to be. There are many opportunities to run quick, low-cost trials that find out the best way of delivering healthcare. There is another reason why testing interventions is important. Although applying behavioral insights should be seen as improving mainstream policymaking, it can still be seen as a separate, strange and challenging activity. Behavioral change interventions can still be met with skepticism regarding their purpose.¹⁰⁴ These concerns are being addressed by a commitment to trial and assess outcomes reliably. Sharing the results, even where no improvement was observed, also increases credibility.¹⁰⁵ The evidence of impact has changed attitudes and increased the demand for applying behavioral insights.¹⁰⁶

How behavioral insights findings can be used across different groups

It is important to understand how behavioral insights findings can be applied in different contexts. In other words: to what extent are results that have been found in one place also achievable elsewhere? There are two main concerns about generalizing findings:

- whether the behavioral concepts mentioned (for example, the power of social norms) hold true across different cultures and contexts; and
- the variability in implementation.

One influential critique highlights how many of the studies in behavioral science have been conducted using people from Western, educated, industrialized, rich and democratic populations.¹⁰⁷ The argument is that findings from these studies may not translate well to different cultures or contexts, other Western countries, or even towards different populations in the same society.¹⁰⁸

There is some evidence of variability in the extent to which certain biases exist in various societies.¹⁰⁹ Perhaps some of the strongest evidence concerns bias in individualistic versus collectivist self-concepts. This is where people in Western cultures tend to see themselves more as individual, autonomous actors, while people in Eastern cultures tend to see themselves as more connected to others and the situation.¹¹⁰ These differences may affect how some of the above case studies might work in a specific context. For example, a large review suggests that social norm effects may be larger in non-Western societies.¹¹¹ However, humans also share a substantial amount of basic aspects of cognition, motivation and, therefore, behavior.¹¹² For example, different cultures have been found to have similar emotional expressions¹¹³ and personality characteristics,¹¹⁴ and are equally mildly dishonest.¹¹⁵

The question of generalizing is complex and the evidence is not yet clear. We can offer two main responses. First, as this report shows, there is evidence that interventions that draw on behavioral science concepts can be effective in countries around the world. Second, these questions only increase the importance of trialing interventions to measure their impact. However, this emphasis on testing and adapting leads onto the second concern: that outcomes may be affected by variations in context and implementation.¹¹⁶ This concern is not specific to behavioral insights interventions, but is worth noting because of the effect of context on behavior. For example, there is evidence that making HIV testing the default, so people have to actively choose to opt out, greatly increases testing rates. However, some health services in some countries had lower test uptake rates due to shortcomings in leadership, infrastructure, incentives and acceptability of testing.¹¹⁷ Also, in some cases, increased test rates did not increase *detection* rates. This means that, in some countries, the default was only increasing testing among people who did not actually have HIV. The results show that, in some cases, changing the default to opt out could increase costs without improving outcomes.¹¹⁸ In other words, there is much evidence that the details of implementation matter.

Sustainability of behavioral insights interventions

Another evaluation of behavioral insights interventions suggests that they only target short-term or one-off changes in behavior. It is true that many studies only assess short-term outcomes, and that some interventions into long-term weight loss¹¹⁹ or smoking cessation¹²⁰ failed to find a lasting impact.

However, long-term outcomes are particularly sensitive to the way that an intervention is implemented.¹²¹ There are well-known ways to increase the likelihood that a behavior is sustained:

- Implement the intervention so the target behavior remains the default, becomes a rule of thumb or becomes a habit. For example, paying people to go to the gym once had no long-lasting effects on behavior, while paying people to go at least eight times in a month led to a sustained increase in gym use, even when this incentive was removed.¹²²
- Carry out the intervention at a time that is close to when the target behavior is to be performed. For example, reminding drivers to wear seat belts immediately before driving increased seat belt use, while prompting drivers five minutes in advance did not.¹²³ Therefore, implementing an alarm that goes off when driving without a seat belt is likely to have a bigger impact than a seat belt campaign.
- Implement reminders. Repeated reminders for dental check-ups did not lessen their impact on behavior.¹²⁴ However, it may be important not to make these reminders too frequent. For example, weekly texts that reminded people to take their HIV medication increased medical adherence, while daily text messages tended to be ignored and did not have an effect on behavior.¹²⁵

CONCLUSION: EMBEDDING BEHAVIORAL INSIGHTS INTO HEALTH POLICYMAKING

This report makes the case for using behavioral insights to improve health and healthcare worldwide. We provide case studies where this approach has already been put into practice successfully, and offer practical advice about how to apply behavioral insights. There are many opportunities to improve health and healthcare by using simple tools to make practical changes.

Many public sector bodies around the world have already created specific teams or units dedicated to using behavioral insights. This has resulted in the creation of a core set of experts who can be deployed quickly and with reliable results. However, there are several factors that influence whether the team will succeed or fail. The experience of the UK's Behavioural Insights Team suggests that its success was based on the following factors:

| Factor | Description |
|-----------------------------------|--|
| A dministrative support | Having the support of senior officials in a government administration sends a valuable signal that behavioral insights are a core function of government. |
| Political support | Having public political support for the project can be very important. Even if this is not possible, the team should understand how to present its work so it is aligned with the main political priorities – and public opinion. |
| People | The team needs the right combination of skills, experience and perspectives. Unsurprisingly, one requirement is knowledge of behavioral insights (see below). However, it is equally important to have team members who have experience of working in government and understand how to 'get things done'. |
| Location | In many governments, there are a set of locations where decisions about policy and administration are often made. Being physically near these locations means that team members can take advantage of chance meetings and opportunities, which can lead to major breakthroughs. |
| Experimentation | Trialing new approaches is not just good practice from a scientific perspective. As noted above, skeptics can be won over if you give them strong evidence that a new approach works, and to what extent. |
| S cholarship | A team like this needs to be expert in the latest theories and findings from behavioral science. Strengthening this expertise by creating an advisory panel of academics can provide an external perspective on your work. Having only superficial knowledge can lead to poorly constructed interventions that backfire. At the same time, the team's focus should be on making change in the real world, not solving academic problems. |

APPLES: Setting up a successful behavioral insights team¹²⁶

However, behavioral insights should not be applied by a dedicated team alone: they offer wider lessons for government. Those who are making health policy should consider how their own actions are influenced by the factors highlighted in this report. We encourage policymakers to investigate new ways of applying the EAST framework to health policymaking.

Although these ideas may require greater effort and self-reflection, adopting them will be essential to maximize the benefits from the finite resources that can be spent on health and healthcare. We hope this report will help decision-makers see health and healthcare differently, provide them with new ideas and enable them to act on those new insights.

APPENDIX: CASE STUDIES

| Domain | Policy area | Example | Page |
|------------------------------------|---|---|------|
| Public health and prevention | Improved diet | Substituting salt with a low sodium alternative reduces sodium intake | 15 |
| | | Making default items like packages and tableware smaller means we eat less | 10 |
| | | Placing healthy, rather than unhealthy, foods in prominent places in food shops – particularly at the end of aisles – increases healthy choices | 19 |
| | | Introducing a symbol to signify healthier food choices increases purchases of products showing this symbol | 18 |
| | | Using existing social networks within a community to aid implementation of interventions that improve uptake of multivitamins across the wider community | 22 |
| | Suicide prevention | Introducing a new law on painkiller packaging to make it difficult to buy large amounts at once reduces suicides by overdose | 14 |
| | Accident prevention | Putting reference lines on train tracks to attract pedestrians' attention to fast-moving trains reduces fatalities | 18 |
| | Smoking cessation | People are more likely to quit smoking when they are required to have surgery – particularly if they receive an intervention at this time | 24 |
| | Reducing the transmission of communicable diseases | Using a substitute such as the highly visible 'Ebola handshake' creates safer social norms for greeting | 20 |
| | | Targeting handwashing initiatives at professionals at the end of shifts increases compliance | 24 |

| Domain | Policy area | Example | Page |
|--------------------------------------|---|---|------|
| Use and delivery of healthcare | Improved engagement with healthcare | Creating new reminder messages that attract attention reduces missed appointments | 17 |
| | | Timing the offer to coincide with Ramadan fasting increases uptake of diabetes screening | 23 |
| | Medicine adherence | Using Skype calls to verify adherence to tuberculosis medicine, rather than requiring patients to visit doctors in persons improves medicine adherence | 15 |
| | Patient safety | Using color-coded observation charts clearly flags when a patient's condition is deteriorating | 19 |
| | | Lowering the default amount of air blown into patients' lungs in intensive care units reduces mortality rates | 13 |
| | Preventing antimicrobial resistance | Telling doctors when they are prescribing antibiotics at a higher rate than their peers reduces unnecessary antibiotic prescribing | 20 |

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The Forum advisory board for the report was chaired by Dr David Halpern, Chief Executive of The Behavioural Insights Team. *Applying Behavioral Insights* was written by Dr David Halpern in collaboration with Michael Hallsworth, Veerle Snijders and Hannah Burd of The Behavioural Insights Team and Jessica Prestt, Gaby Judah and Sarah Huf of Imperial College London.

We would like to extend our sincere thanks to all the members of the advisory board who contributed to this report:

Zachary Brown | Asiya Investments, UAE

Clare Chandler | London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, UK

Dominic King | Google DeepMind and Imperial College London, UK

Kenneth Leonard | University of Maryland, US

Theresa Marteau | University of Cambridge, UK

John Monson | University of Rochester School of Medicine, US

Ben Ngoye | African Institute for Healthcare Management, Kenya

Ram Prasad | FinalMile Consulting, India

Judith (Jodi) Prochaska | Stanford Prevention Research Centre, US

Jerril Rechter | Victorian Health Promotion Foundation (VicHealth), Australia

Lawrence Tallon | on behalf of Her Excellency Dr Hanan Al Kuwari, Hamad Medical Corporation, Qatar

Zee Yoong Kang | Singapore Health Promotion Board, Singapore

The interviews that informed this report were conducted by Hannah Burd and Veerle Snijders, under the direction of Michael Hallsworth. The chair and authors thank all those who contributed, including Jaime Miranda and Francisco Diez Canseco.

Any errors or omissions remain the responsibility of the authors.

WISH Forum team

Forum Director: Jessica Prestt

Head of Forum Development: Hannah Patel

Behavioral Insights Forum Fellows: Gaby Judah and Sarah Huf

REFERENCES

- Ruel MT, Alderman H, Maternal and Child Nutrition Study Group. Nutritionsensitive interventions and programmes: How can they help to accelerate progress in improving maternal and child nutrition? *The Lancet*, 2013; 382(9891): 536–51.
- 02. Commission on Social Determinants of Health. Closing the gap in a generation: Health equity through action on the social determinants of health. Final Report of the Commission on Social Determinants of Health. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2008; Available at: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstr eam/10665/43943/1/9789241563703_eng.pdf
- **03.** McGinnis JM, Williams-Russo P, Knickman JR. The case for more active policy attention to health promotion. *Health affairs*, 2002; 21(2): 78–93.
- 04. Forouzanfar MH, Alexander L, Anderson HR, Bachman VF, Biryukov S, Brauer M, Delwiche K. Global, regional, and national comparative risk assessment of 79 behavioural, environmental and occupational, and metabolic risks or clusters of risks in 188 countries, 1990–2013: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *The Lancet*, 2015; 386(10010): 2287–323.
- 05. Bloom DE, Cafiero E, Jané-Llopis E, Abrahams-Gessel S, Bloom LR, Fathima S, Feigl AB, Gaziano T, Hamandi A, Mowafi M, O'Farrell D. The global economic burden of non-communicable diseases (No. 8712). Program on the Global Demography of Aging. Geneva: World Economic Forum, 2011.
- **06.** Jones G, Steketee RW, Blac RE, Bhutta ZA, Morris SS, Bellagio Child Survival Study Group. How many child deaths can we prevent this year? *The Lancet*, 2003; 362(9377): 65–71.
- **07.** Datta S, Mullainathan S. Behavioral design: A new approach to development policy. *Review of Income and Wealth*, 2014; 60(1): 7–35.
- 08. Forouzanfar MH, Alexander L, Anderson HR, Bachman VF, Biryukov S, Brauer M, Delwiche K. Global, regional, and national comparative risk assessment of 79 behavioural, environmental and occupational, and metabolic risks or clusters of risks in 188 countries, 1990–2013: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *The Lancet*, 2015; 386(10010): 2287–323.
- **09.** Leape LL. Error in medicine. *JAMA*, 1994; 272(23): 1851–7.
- **10.** Graber ML, Franklin N, Gordon R. Diagnostic error in internal medicine. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 2005; 165(13): 1493–9.
- Darzi A, Beales S, Hallsworth M, King D, Macdonnell M. The five bad habits of healthcare: How new thinking about behaviour could reduce healthcare spending. Report to the World Economic Forum. 2012; Available at: www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_HE_FiveBadHabitsHealthcare_ IndustryAgenda_2012.pdf

- **12.** Cooper JC, Kovacic WE. Behavioral economics: Implications for regulatory behavior. *Journal of Regulatory Economics*, 2012; 41(1): 41–58.
- **13.** Backhouse R. The Penguin history of economics. London: Penguin, 2002.
- **14.** Weimer DL, Vining A. Policy analysis: Concepts and practice. Oxford: Routledge, 2015.
- **15.** Kahneman D. Thinking, fast and slow. New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux, 2011.
- Dolan P, Hallsworth M, Halpern D, King D, Metcalfe R, Vlaev I. Influencing behaviour: The mindspace way. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 2012; 33(1): 264–77.
- 17. Bargh JA, Chartrand TL. The unbearable automaticity of being. *American Psychologist*, 1999; 54(7): 462–79.
- 18. Hollands GJ, Shemilt I, Marteau TM, Jebb SA, Lewis HB, Wei Y, Ogilvie D. Portion, package or tableware size for changing selection and consumption of food, alcohol and tobacco. London: Cochrane Database of Systematic Review, 2015; Available at: www.cochrane.org/CD011045/PUBHLTH_portion-package-or-tableware-size-changing-selection-and-consumption-food-alcohol-and-tobacco
- **19.** Thaler RH, Sunstein CR. Nudge: Improving decisions about health, wealth, and happiness. London: Penguin Books, 2009.
- **20.** Institute for Government and Cabinet Office. Mindspace: Influencing behaviour through public policy. London: Institute for Government, 2010.
- 21. Halpern D. Inside the Nudge Unit. London: WH Allen, 2015.
- **22.** Hansen PG, Jespersen AM. Nudge and the manipulation of choice: A framework for the responsible use of the nudge approach to behaviour change in public policy. *European Journal of Risk Regulation*, 2013; 3.
- **23.** Whitehead M, Jones R, Howell R, Lilley R, Pykett J. Nudging all over the world: Assessing the global impact of the behavioural sciences on public policy. Swindon: Economic and Social Research Council, 2014.
- **24.** World Bank. Global Insights Initiative. Available at: www.worldbank.org/en/ programs/gini
- **25.** European Commission Behavioural Research. Available at: http://ec.europa.eu/consumers/consumer_evidence/behavioural_research/index_en.htm
- **26.** European Commission Joint Research Centre. Behavioural Insights. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/research/crosscutting-activities/ behavioural-insights
- **27.** Behavioural Insights Team. EAST: Four simple ways of applying behavioural insights. 2014; Available at: www.behaviouralinsights.co.uk/publications/ east-four-simple-ways-to-apply-behavioural-insights/
- **28.** Anderson CJ. The psychology of doing nothing: Forms of decision avoidance result from reason and emotion. *Psychological Bulletin*, 2003; 129(1): 139–67.

- **29.** Chapman GB, Li M, Colby H, Yoon H. Opting in vs opting out of influenza vaccination. *JAMA*, 2010; 304(1): 43–4.
- **30.** The Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome Network. Ventilation with lower tidal volumes as compared with traditional tidal volumes for acute lung injury and the acute respiratory distress syndrome. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 2000; 342: 1301–8.
- Bourdeaux CP, Davies KJ, Thomas MJC, Bewley JS, Gould TH. Using 'nudge' principles for order set design: A before and after evaluation of an electronic prescribing template in critical care. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, 2014; 23(5): 382–8.
- **32.** Gunnell D, Murray V, Hawton K. Use of paracetamol (acetaminophen) for suicide and nonfatal poisoning: Worldwide patterns of use and misuse. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 2000; 30(4): 313–26.
- Hawton K, Ware C, Mistry H, Hewitt J, Kingsbury S, Roberts D, Weitzel H. Paracetamol self-poisoning: Characteristics, prevention and harm reduction. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 1996; 168(1): 43–8.
- 34. Hawton K, Bergen H, Simkin S, Dodd S, Pocock P, Bernal W, Kapur N. Long term effect of reduced pack sizes of paracetamol on poisoning deaths and liver transplant activity in England and Wales: Interrupted time series analyses. *BMJ*, 2013; 346: f403. Available at: www.bmj.com/content/346/bmj.f403
- **35.** Yip PS, Caine E, Yousuf S, Chang SS, Wu KCC, Chen YY. Means restriction for suicide prevention. *The Lancet*, 2012; 379(9834): 2393–9.
- **36.** Clarke RV, Mayhew P. The British Gas suicide story and its criminological implications. In Tonry M, Morris N (eds.). Crime and Justice. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1988.
- 37. Hawton K, Bergen H, Simkin S, Dodd S, Pocock P, Bernal W, Kapur N. Long term effect of reduced pack sizes of paracetamol on poisoning deaths and liver transplant activity in England and Wales: Interrupted time series analyses. *BMJ*, 2013; 346: f403. Available at: www.bmj.com/content/346/bmj.f403
- **38.** Oprunenco A, Severing L. Fighting TB in Moldova: Moving beyond the nudge. 2015; Available at: http://europeandcis.undp.org/blog/2015/06/02/ fighting-tb-in-moldova-moving-beyond-the-nudge/
- **39.** World Health Organization. Tuberculosis Work Summary. 2014; Available at: www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/communicable-diseases/tuberculosis/ country-work/republic-of-moldova
- **40.** Oprunenco A. A nudge in the right direction: Fighting tuberculosis in Moldova. 2014; Available at: http://europeandcis.undp.org/blog/2014/04/02/ nudge-right-direction-fighting-tuberculosis-moldova/

- 41. Miranda J, Bernabé-Ortiz A, Canseco FD, Cárdenas MK, Ponce-Lucero V, Gilman RH, Sacksteder KA. Launch of a salt substitute to reduce blood pressure within the Peruvian population. 2016; Available at: http://en.cronicas-upch.pe/lanzamiento-de-un-sustituto-de-la-sal-para-reducir-la-presion-arterial-a-nivel-poblacional-en-el-peru/
- Public Health England. National diet and nutrition survey: Assessment of dietary sodium: Adults (19 to 64 years) in England, 2014. London: PHE, 2016; Available at: www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/509399/Sodium_study_2014_England_Text_final.pdf
- **43.** Cronicas. GCC site visit to the Allillanchu integration of mental health into primary health care services project. Manuscript. 2016; Available at: http://en.cronicas-upch.pe/allillanchu-mental-health/
- 44. Behavioural Insights Team (BIT). EAST: Four simple ways to apply behavioural insights. London, BIT. 2014; Available at: www.behaviouralinsights.co.uk/publications/east-four-simpleways-to-apply-behavioural-insights/
- **45.** Wurman RS. Information anxiety. New York: Doubleday, 1989.
- **46.** Kahneman D. Thinking, fast and slow. New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux, 2011.
- **47.** Wood NL, Cowan N. The cocktail party phenomenon revisited: Attention and memory in the classic selective listening procedure of Cherry. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Learning, Memory, & Cognition,* 1995; 21: 255–60.
- **48.** Cox WM, Fadardi JS, Pothos EM. The addiction-stroop test: Theoretical considerations and procedural recommendations. *Psychological Bulletin*, 2006; 132(3): 443–76.
- **49.** Nijs IM, Muris P, Euser AS, Franken IH. Differences in attention to food and food intake between overweight/obese and normal-weight females under conditions of hunger and satiety. *Appetite*, 2010; 54(2): 243–54.
- Townshend J, Duka T. Attentional bias associated with alcohol cues: Differences between heavy and occasional social drinkers. Psychopharmacology, 2001; 157(1): 67–74.
- **51.** Mack A, Rock I. Inattentional blindness. Boston: MIT Press, 1998.
- Sin NL, DiMatteo MR. Depression treatment enhances adherence to antiretroviral therapy: A meta-analysis. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 2014; 47(3): 259–69.
- **53.** Mani A, Mullainathan S, Shafir E, Zhao J. Poverty impedes cognitive function. *Science*, 2013; 341(6149): 976–80.
- **54.** Bratanova B, Loughnan S, Klein O, Claassen A, Wood R. Poverty, inequality, and increased consumption of high calorie food: Experimental evidence for a causal link. *Appetite*, 2016; 01.028.

- **55.** Laxmisan A, Hakimzada F, Sayan OR, Green RA, Zhang J, Patel VL. The multitasking clinician: Decision-making and cognitive demand during and after team handoffs in emergency care. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 2007; 76(11): 801–11.
- 56. Hallsworth M, Berry D, Sanders M, Sallis A, King D, Vlaev I, Darzi A. Stating appointments costs in SMS reminders reduces missed hospital appointments: Findings from two randomised controlled trials. *PLOS ONE*, 2015; 10(10). Available at: http://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0137306
- **57.** Fogarty AW, Sturrock N, Premji K, Prinsloo P. Hospital clinicians' responsiveness to assay cost feedback: A prospective blinded controlled intervention study. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, 2013; 173(17): 1654–5.
- 58. Hallsworth M, Berry D, Sanders M, Sallis A, King D, Vlaev I, Darzi A. Stating appointments costs in SMS reminders reduces missed hospital appointments: Findings from two randomised controlled trials. *PLOS ONE*, 2015; 10(10). Available at: http://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0137306
- 59. Mehta MK. Mumbai's lifeline has claimed 36,000 lives in 10 years. The Times of India, 2012; Available at: http://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/city/mumbai/Mumbais-lifeline-has-claimed-36000-lives-in-10-years/article-show/12739124.cms?referral=PM
- **60.** Interview with Mr Ram Prasad, FinalMile Consulting, WISH Forum Member.
- **61.** Sunstein CR, Thaler RH. Nudge: The politics of libertarian paternalism. New Haven: Yale University Press, 2008.
- **62.** Subramanian S. Mind games to stop death on the tracks. 2010; Available at: www.livemint.com/Home-Page/PG0JwDyboNbejam61mpotL/Mind-games-to-stop-death-on-the-tracks.html
- **63.** Obadiora AJ, Adeleke MA. Influence of social studies health related topics and teaching strategies on students' knowledge and handling of Ebola disease in Osun State secondary schools. *Asia Pacific Journal of Education, Arts, and Sciences,* 2015; 2[4]: 60–7.
- **64.** Singapore Health Promotion Board. *The Straits Times*, 2016; Available at: www.straitstimes.com/singapore/health/ hpb-steering-singaporeans-to-eat-healthier
- **65.** Clinical Excellence Commission. Between the Flags: Keeping patients safe. 2016; Available at: www.cec.health.nsw.gov.au/programs/between-the-flags/ standard-calling-criteria
- 66. Green M. Between the Flags program: Interim evaluation report April 2013. 2013; Available at: www.cec.health.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_____file/0004/258151/btf-program-interim-evaluation-report-april-2013-v2.pdf
- **67.** Clinical Excellence Commission. Between the Flags: Keeping patients safe. 2016; Available at: www.cec.health.nsw.gov.au/programs/between-the-flags/ standard-calling-criteria

- 68. Nakamura R, Pechey R, Suhrcke M, Jebb SA, Marteau TM. Sales impact of displaying alcoholic and non-alcoholic beverages in end-of-aisle locations: An observational study. *Social Science & Medicine*, 2014; 108: 68–73. Available at: www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0277953614001361
- **69.** Cialdini RB, Kallgren CA, Reno RR. A focus theory of normative conduct: A theoretical refinement and reevaluation of the role of norms in human behavior. *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology*, 1991; 24(20): 1–243.
- **70.** Elster J. Social norms and economic theory. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 1989; 3(4): 99–117.
- **71.** Kremer M, Miguel E, Mullainathan S, Null C, Zwane AP. Social engineering: Evidence from a suite of take-up experiments in Kenya. Berkeley: University of California, 2011.
- 72. Ogoina D. Behavioural and emotional responses to the 2014 Ebola outbreak in Nigeria: A narrative review. *International Health*, 2015; Available at: https://inthealth.oxfordjournals.org/content/early/2015/ 12/16/inthealth.ihv065.full
- **73.** Reuters, Thornhill T. Introducing the 'Ebola handshake': U.S ambassador to UN demonstrates safest way to greet people in countries at centre of outbreak. *Daily Mail*, 2014; Available at: www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-2812871/Global-fight-against-Ebola-grows-far-won-U-S-envoy-says. html
- **74.** Prentice DA, Miller DT. Pluralistic ignorance and alcohol use on campus: Some consequences of misperceiving the social norm. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 1993; 64(2): 243–56.
- 75. Hallsworth M, Chadborn T, Sallis A, Sanders M, Berry D, Greaves F, Davies SC. Provision of social norm feedback to high prescribers of antibiotics in general practice: A pragmatic national randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet*, 2016; Available at: www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/ PIIS0140-6736(16)00215-4/abstract
- **76.** World Health Organization. Antimicrobial resistance. WHO Media Centre Factsheet, 2015; Available at: www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs194/en/
- 77. O'Neill J. UK Government Review on Antimicrobial Resistance. Antimicrobial resistance: Tackling a crisis for the health and wealth of nations. 2014; Available at: http://amr-review.org/sites/default/files/AMR%20Review%20 Paper%20-%20Tackling%20a%20crisis%20for%20the%20health%20and%20 wealth%20of%20nations_1.pdf
- **78.** McKenna M. The coming cost of superbugs: 10 million deaths per year. *Wired*, 2014; Available at: www.wired.com/2014/12/oneill-rpt-amr/
- **79.** Davies S, Verde ER. Antimicrobial resistance: in search of a collaborative solution. Qatar: WISH Report of the Antimicrobial Resistance Working Group, 2013.

- 80. Public Health England. English surveillance programme for antimicrobial utilisation and resistance (ESPAUR). London: PHE, 2014; Available at: www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/362374/ESPAUR_Report_2014_3_.pdf
- 81. Hallsworth M, Chadborn T, Sallis A, Sanders M, Berry D, Greaves F, Davies SC. Provision of social norm feedback to high prescribers of antibiotics in general practice: A pragmatic national randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet*, 2016; Available at: www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/ PIIS0140-6736(16)00215-4/abstract
- **82.** Christakis NA, Fowler JH. The collective dynamics of smoking in a large social network. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 2008; 358(21): 2249–58.
- **83.** Christakis NA, Fowler JH. The spread of obesity in a large social network over 32 years. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 2007; 357(4): 370–9.
- Bapna R, Umyarov A. Do your online friends make you pay? A randomized field experiment on peer influence in online social media networks. *Management Science*, 2015; 61(8): 1902–20.
- Coleman JS, Kats E, Menzel H. Medical innovation: A diffusion study. New York: Bobbs Merrill, 1966.
- **86.** Valente T. Social network thresholds in the diffusion of innovations. *Social Networks*, 1996; 18: 69–89.
- **87.** Bahr DB, Browning RC, Wyatt HR, Hill JO. Exploiting social networks to mitigate the obesity epidemic. *Obesity*, 2009; 17: 723–8.
- Kim DA, Hwong AR, Stafford D, Hughes DA, O'Malley AJ, Fowler JH, Christakis NA. Social network targeting to maximise population behaviour change: A cluster randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet*, 2015; 386(9989): 145–53.
- **89.** McBride CM, Emmons KM, Lipkus IM. Understanding the potential of teachable moments: The case of smoking cessation. *Health Education Research*, 2003; 1: 156–70.
- **90.** Shum MS. The role of temporal landmarks in autobiographical memory processes. *Psychological Bulletin*, 1998; 124(3): 423–42.
- **91.** Alter AL, Hershfield HE. People search for meaning when they approach a new decade in chronological age. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 2014; 111(48): 17066–70.
- **92.** Tu Y, Soman D. The categorization of time and its impact on task initiation. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 2014; 41(3): 810–22.
- **93.** Interview with Mr Zee Yoong Kang, Singapore Health Promotion Board, WISH Forum Member.
- 94. Alkasem M, Othman M, Dughosh R, Abou-samra A. Screening for diabetes in Ramadan: A pilot study. *Q Science*. 2014; Available at: www.qscience.com/ doi/abs/10.5339/qfarc.2014.HBPP0881

- **95.** Shi Y, Warner DO. Surgery as a teachable moment for smoking cessation. *The Journal of the American Society of Anesthesiologists*, 2010; 112(1): 102–7.
- **96.** Keenan PS. Smoking and weight change after new health diagnoses in older adults. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 2009; 169(3): 237–42.
- **97.** Lee SM, Landry J, Jones PM, Buhrmann O, Morley-Forster P. Long-term quit rates after a perioperative smoking cessation randomized controlled trial. *Anesthesia & Analgesia*, 2015; 120(3): 582–7.
- **98.** Dai H, Milkman KL, Hofmann DA, Staats BR. The impact of time at work and time off from work on rule compliance: The case of hand hygiene in health care. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 2015; 100(3): 846–62.
- **99.** Judah G, Aunger R, Schmidt WP, Michie S, Granger S, Curtis V. Experimental pretesting of hand-washing interventions in a natural setting. *American Journal of Public Health*, 2009; 99(S2): S405–S411.
- **100.** Grant AM, Hofmann DA. It's not all about me: Motivating hand hygiene among health care professionals by focusing on patients. *Psychological Science*, 2011; 22(12): 1494–9.
- **101.** King D, Vlaev I, Everett-Thomas R, Fitzpatrick M, Darzi A, Birnbach DJ. "Priming" hand hygiene compliance in clinical environments. *Health Psychology*, 2016; 35(1): 96.
- **102.** Dai H, Milkman KL, Hofmann DA, Staats BR. The impact of time at work and time off from work on rule compliance: The case of hand hygiene in health care. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 2015; 100(3): 846–62.
- **103.** Haynes L, Goldacre B, Torgerson D. Test, learn, adapt: Developing public policy with randomised controlled trials. London: Cabinet Office and Behavioural Insights Team, 2012.
- **104.** Rebonato R. Taking liberties: A critical examination of libertarian paternalism. New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2012.
- **105.** Behavioural Insights Team. Update Report 2013–15. 2015; Available at: www.behaviouralinsights.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/BIT_Update-Report-Final-2013-2015.pdf
- 106. Bennhold K. Britain's ministry of nudges. New York Times, 2013; Available at: www.nytimes.com/2013/12/08/business/international/ britains-ministry-of-nudges.html
- 107. Henrich J, Heine SJ, Norenzayan A. Most people are not WEIRD. *Nature*, 2010; 466(7302): 29.
- **108.** Henrich J, Heine SJ, Norenzayan A. The weirdest people in the world? *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 2010; 33(2–3): 61–83.
- 109. Wang M, Rieger MO, Hens T. The impact of culture on loss aversion. Journal of Behavioral Decision Making, 2016; Available at: http://onlinelibrary. wiley.com/doi/10.1002/bdm.1941/abstract

- **110.** Heine SJ. Cultural psychology. New York: W. W. Norton, 2008.
- 111. Bond R, Smith PB. Culture and conformity: A meta-analysis of studies using Asch's (1952b, 1956) line judgment task. *Psychological Bulletin*, 1996; 119(1): 111–37.
- **112.** Henrich J, Heine SJ, Norenzayan A. The weirdest people in the world? *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 2010; 33(2–3): 61–83.
- **113.** Ekman P. Basic emotions. In Dalgleish T, Power T (eds.). *The Handbook of Cognition and Emotion*, 1999; 45–60.
- **114.** McCrae RR, Terraciano A. Universal features of personality traits from the observer's perspective: Data from 50 cultures. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 2005; 88: 547–61.
- **115.** Ariely D. The (honest) truth about dishonesty. London: Harper Collins, 2012.
- **116.** Cartwright N, Hardie J. Evidence-based policy: A practical guide to doing it better. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2012.
- 117. Roura M, Watson-Jones D, Kahawita TM, Ferguson L, Ross DA.
 Provider-initiated testing and counselling programs in sub-Saharan Africa: A systematic review of their operational implementation. *Aids*, 2013; 27(4): 617–26.
- 118. World Bank. World Development Report 2015: Mind, society, and behavior. Washington DC: World Bank, 2014.
- 119. John L, Loewenstein G, Troxel A, Norton L, Fassbender J, Volpp K.
 Financial incentives for extended weight loss: A randomized, controlled trial. Journal of General Internal Medicine, 2011; 26(6): 621–6.
- **120.** Cahill K, Perera R. Competitions and incentives for smoking cessation. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 2008; 3(9).
- **121.** Rogers T, Frey EL. Changing behavior beyond the here and now. HKS Research Working Paper Series, 2014; 14–014: 1–26.
- **122.** Charness G, Gneezy U. Incentives to exercise. *Econometrica*, 2009; 77(3): 909–31.
- 123. Austin J, Sigurdsson SO, Rubin YS. An examination of the effects of delayed versus immediate prompts on safety belt use. *Environment and Behavior*, 2006; 38(1): 140–9.
- **124.** Altmann S, Traxler C. Nudges at the dentist. *European Economic Review*, 2014; 72: 19–38.
- 125. Pop-Eleches C, Thirumurthy H, Habyarimana JP, Zivin JG, Goldstein MP, De Walque D, Bangsberg DR. Mobile phone technologies improve adherence to antiretroviral treatment in a resource-limited setting: A randomized controlled trial of text message reminders. *AIDS*, 2011; 25(6): 825–34.
- **126.** Halpern D. Inside the nudge unit: How small changes can make a big difference. London: WH Allen, 2015.

42

WISH PARTNERS



WISH gratefully acknowledges the support of the Ministry of Public Health











Duke GLOBAL HEALTH





Duke-Margolis Center for Health Policy









Imperial College London

Institute of Global Health Innovation









WISH PARTNERS

McKinsey&Company

MedStar Health Institute for Quality and Safety

inational academy of medicine



















THE BEHAVIOURAL INSIGHTS TEAM+ THE CARTER CENTER

TheKingsFund>







WISE

world innovation summit for education مؤتمر القمة العالمي للإبتكار في التعليم

an initiative of مـۇسـسـة قـطـر — Qatar Foundation









www.wish.org.qa